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SFINOLA DEVELOPMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annua! Repornt and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2024

Directors’ report

The directors present their report and the audited consclidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2024.

Principai activities

The principal activities of the Group are the development and the operation of the Portomaso Complex in
St. Julians, Malta. This complex includes the Hilton (Malta) and its convention centre, the Portomaso
Business Tower, residential apartments, a car park and commercial outlets.

Review of business

2024 was another successful year building upon the positive momentum following the pandemic recovery
notwithstanding the prevailing macro-economic challenges brought about by the war in Ukraine and the
hostilities in the Middle East, as well as domestic challenges such as the shortage in the labour supply
which particularly impacts the haspitality business which constitutes the major segment of the Spinola
Development Company Limited Group (the ‘Group’). On a positive note, one needs to keep in mind the
Maltese government’s subsidy to keep energy prices stable and the gradual decrease in inlerest rates as
inflationary pressures continued subsiding,

Tourist arrivals to Malta during 2024 remained an an upward trend reaching 3.56 million visitors, setting an
all-time record, compared to the 2.98 million tourist arrivals during 2023. Tourist expenditure amounted to
€3.29 billion against €2.67 billion in 2023 resulting in an increase of €616.61 million equivalent to 23.05%.
Allthis is very positive for the hospitality industry as the increasing number of tourist arrivals has an obvious
direct positive impact upon the Group's hospitality business, as well as an indirect impact in the form of a
higher spending power within the local community, part of which translates into additional business being
channelled into the Group’s hotel and anclllary operations, thus encouraging the Group (o retain ils
propensity towards constantly investing inte retaining the Hilton hotel as one of the best hotels on the
island. :

Cperating in this ecanomic environment, Hilton's revenue for 2024 was almost at par with that of 2023 which
was the highest ever achieved by the hotel, as occupancy remained on the higher side with a slight dip in
room rate, whilst the revenue from ancillary operations which includes the marina, car-park and tower bar
fell short from that of 2023, thus resulting in {otal segment revenue of €43.43 million against €44 .11 million
in 2023, making up B2.10% of the Group’s total revenue , On the other hand, rental income from offices and
commercial venues together with complex management operations stood at €9.47 million against €7.79 in
2023 registering an improvement of €1.68 million. Property development has been on a downward trend
due lo the limited stock available for sale which during 2024 consisted of just 2 apartments within
Portomase, with no property development revenue being recorded during 2024, At this stage, the Group's
main property development project is the development of the upmarket residential complex at the Jocation
of lhe former Halland Hotel at ibragg. Construction work progressed substantially during 2024 with M&E
works commencing in late 2024 such that completion is estimated for the third quarter of 2026.

Cost of sales and administrative expenses amounted to €37.98 million against €36.50 million in 2023
equivaleni to an increase of €1.48 million arising mostly from higher labour costs in view of the hospitality
industry being a very labour intensive one together with the challenge of staff shortage, resulting in higher
labour costs 1o recruit, train and retain suitably qualified staff to deliver the high leve! of service expected at
one of the top hotel brands.

With other income remaining relatively unchanged (2024: €330,076 vs 2023; €328,740), operating profit
stood at €15.26 million against €15.93 million in 2023, resulting in a decrease of €668,921 or 4.20%.
Consequently, the profit margin declined from 30.57% in 2023 to 28.84% in 2024,
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Directors’ report - conlinued

Review of business - continued

Net finance costs stood at €1.70 million against €2.32 in the previous year, resuiting in a decrease of
€617 683 arising from a combination of lower finance costs due to the reduction in borrowings following the
settlement of a €24.98 million loan borrowed fram Tumas Investments p.l.c. so that the latter could redeem
the €25.0 million bond upon its maturity in 2024, and higher finance income earned from invesiments in
treasury bills as the treasury unit continues to contribute towards optimizing returns on funds available and
actively managing the cost of borrowings.

To this effect, profit before tax stood at €13.55 million against €13.61 million in 2023, equivalent {o a
decrease of €51,238.

The tax expense for 2024 was slightly lower than that of the previous year (2024 €4.07 million vs 2023;
€4.16 millien), thus resulting in a profit after tax of €3.48 million against €9.44 million in 2023.

Moving on to the statement of financial position, the Group’s total assets at the end of December 2024 stood
at €235.43 million against €240.67 million at the end of 2023 representing a decrease of €5.24 million,
Property, plant and equipment together with investment property remain the backbone of the Group's asset
base, representing 68.31% of total assets,

During 2024 the Group invested €1.63 milliocn in property, plant and equipment predominantly at the Hilton
to upgrade the hotel's equipment and energy efficiency, as well as €2.71 million in its investment property
representing mainly investment in equipment and furnishings of areas within the car-park which were
eventually ieased out, whilst total disposals amounted to €130,804. Depreciation on property, plant,
egquipment and investment property amounted to €5.57 million against €5.42 million in 2023 representing
an increase of €152,754.

Non-current assets decreased by €1.23 million {2024. €162.77 million vs 2023: €164.70 miliion} resulting
from a decrease of €1.32 million in the value of property, piant, equipment and investment property and a
decrease of €602,998 in trade and other receivables (2024: €1.95 million vs 2023: €2.55 million) mainly due
to an amount of €573,000 being reclassified into current receivables as this should be settled by the end of
2025,

Current assets also registered a decrease (2024:; €72.66 million vs 2023: €75.98 million} with the main
movementis being an increase of €4.95 millicn in inventories (2024 €36.40 million vs 2023; €31.45 million)
arising from an increase in property held for develcpment and resale mainly related to the ex-Halland hotel
development which is currently the Group's main residential real estate development upon which works
have progressed substantially in 2024 with promise of sale agreements expected to ramp up in 2025, a
decrease of €15.24 million in trade and other receivables {2024: €10,19 million vs 2023; €25.43 million)
mainly due to the repayment of amecunts owed by fellow subsidiaries, an increase of €10.45 million in
financial assets at amortised cost (2024: €22.21 million vs 2023: €11.77 million} comprising of sovereign
treasury bills which contributed to the higher finance income, and a decrease of €3.47 million in cash and
cash equivalents {2024; €3.88 million vs 2023: €7.33 million).

Consequently, working capital increased by €20.22 million from €32.92 million at the end of 2023 to reach
€53.14 million at the end of 2024, with the working capital ratio improving to 3.72 from 1.76 at the end of
2023. This was due to the reduction in current liabilities arising from the repayment of current borrowings
from Tumas lnvestmenis p.l.c. so that the laiter could redeem the €25.C0 million bond upon maturity in
2024, The repayment of current borrowings did not materially affect current assets, and the reduction in
cuirent liabilittes was moslly offset by increases in non-current liabilities and relained earnings. The Group’s
working capital is considered to be at a healthy level and adequate to support the Group’s operations and
its commitments to Tumas Investments p.l.c.




SPINOLA DEVELOPMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2024

Directors’ report - continued

Review of husiness - continued

With respect to Group's liabililies, lotal liabilities decreased by €12.51 million (2024: €81.25 million vs 2023:
€93.76 million) with an increase of €11.03 million in non-current liabilities (2024; €61.73 million vs 2023:
€50.71 million) against a decrease of €23.53 million in current liabilities {2024: €19.52 million vs 2023:
€43.06 million) due to the repayment of current borrowings from Tumas Investments p.l.c. so that the latter
could redeem the €25.00 million bond upon maturity in 2024 as explained earlier.

The Group's nel deferred tax liabilities at the end of 2024 stood at €25.12 million against €25.76 at the end
of 2023 representing a reduction of €643,792 resulting from changes in the temparary timing differences
arising on the depreciation of non-current assets and the tax element on the revaluation of property,

Total borrowings at the end of 2024 amounted to €36.71 million against €49.93 million at the end of 2023,
comprising of €11.75 million in bank borrowings (2022: €nil) and €24.95 million in borrowings from Tumas
investments p.l.c. deriving from the latter's bond issue maturing in 2027. Therefore, total borrowings
decreased by €13.22 million with a significant reduction in current borrowings and an increase in non-current
barrowings which include the €24.95 million loan payable to Tumas Investments p.l.c. for which the Group
is building a portfolio together with unutilised credit lines so as to meet its commitment towards Tumas
Investments p.l.c. of sovereign treasury bills amounting to €22.21 million in addition to unutilised credit lines.
At the end of 2024 the Group’s gearing ratio steod at 5% against 15% the previous year, highlighting the
Group's robust financial position and the very low leverage risk,

Trade and other payables stood at €17.65 million representing an increase of €3.52 million against the
€14.13 million at end 2023. This increase is mainly attribulable to amounts owed to fellow subsidiaries
which increased by €2 46 million (2024: €2 .46 million vs 2023: €nil} whilst accruals and deferred income
increased by €943,533 (2024: €6.47 million vs 2023: €5.53 million}).

The above factors contributed to the Group's total equity reaching €154.17 million at the end of 2024 against
€146.91 miltion at the end of 2023, representing an increase of €7.26 million or 4.94% brought about by an
increase in retained earnings (2024: €55.11 million vs 2023: €47.02 million) driven by the Group's
successful performance, and after accounting for €2.21 million in dividends, attesting to the robustness of
Group’s financial position.

Moving on to the cash flow statement, the Group’s cash and cash equivalents at the end to 2024 amounted
o €3.56 million against €7.33 million at the end of 2023 representing a decline of €3.77 million brought
about by the following factors:

The net cash generated from operating activities amounted to €24 .92 million against €8.66 million in 2023
representing an increase of €18.27 million brought abhout mainly by an increase of 21,86 million attributable
to cash generaled from operaticns whereby trade and other receivables registered a favourable movement
of €15.31 million against an adverse movement of €5.73 milfion in 2023 resulting in a difference of €21.04
millien, and an adverse movement of €4.33 million attributable to an increase in income tax payments (2024:
€6.88 million vs 2023: €2.55 million} since the provisional tax instalmenls during 2023 charged by the
Commissioner for Revenue according to tax regulations were not enough to caver the Group's 2023 final
tax charge, so the difference was selfled in 2024 in line with tax regulations.
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Directors’ report - continued

Review of business - continued

Cashilows from investing activities registered a net outflow of €14.18 million against oulflows of €11,59
miilion in 2023 which translates into an adverse change of €2.60 million which is mainly the resull of a €1.76
millien increase in the purchase of property, plant, equipment and investment properly, as well as a
decrease of €2.15 million in the setttement of non-current receivables. Investment in sovereign treasury bills
retained a steady momentum at €10.45 million against €11.77 miltion in 2023.

Cashflows from financing activities amounted to oulflows of €14.51 million against outflows of €3.21 million
in 2023 resulting in a variance of €11.30 million brought aboul mainly by the €24.98 million repayment of
the loan {o Tumas Investments p.l.c., which was partly set-off by €12.00 million proceeds from bank
borrowings.

The above results poriray a strong perfarmance which is a testament to the Group's capabilities as a leading
business player within the Maitese economy, especially in its core business of hospitality, notwithstanding
the persisting international furmoil which requires us to constantly manilor what is happening both in the
local and international scene. The Board of Directors is confident that the current operations in tandem with
the upcoming projects will continue to solidify the Group's financial position and reputation.

Qutlook for financial year 2025 and events after the financial reporting date

Our outlock for 2025 reflects a cautiously optimistic stance with budgets having been set at levels similar to
the performance of 2024 in view of the global macro-economic environment prevailing during the last
quarier of 2024, including the geo-poiitical turmoil in the Middle East and the war in Ukraine which could
detrimentally impact the Group’s hospitality business. Having said that, the Hilton hotel registered a positive
performance during the first quarter of 2025 whereby accommodation revenue was at par with that of 2024
whils! food & beverage revenue registered an improvement, leading to an overall increase in gross
operating profit. The outlook for the summer months is also encouraging, with the Malta international Airport
introducing additional connections to Denmark, Hungary and the United Kingdom, and indications that both
occupancy and room rates witl be very good. This is particularly positive news given the stronger competition
within the St.Julian’s area following the refurbishment of a major competitor and the apening of a new 5-
star hotel in the last quarter of 2024. During 2025 the Group wili continue with its investment plan at the
Hilton hotel which includes the addition of a new outdoor catering facility in order to keep the Hilton hotel as
one of the best hotels on the island.

The hospitality’s anciliary operations of Spinola Development Company Limited which include the car park,
the tower bar and the marina which was rented cut mid-2024, are expecled to yield similar results to 2024,
whilst rentals of offices and commercial areas as well as complex managemeni operalions are expected to
yield a somewhat better result compared to last year.

Regarding property development, the current main project is the development of the upmarket residential
compiex at the location of the former Halland Hotel at Ibragg.
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Directors’ report - continued

Review of business - continued
Outlook for financial year 2025 and events after the financial reporting date - continued

Netwithstanding the positive performance of the first quarler of 2025, we now need to contend with the
recent macro-economic events iriggered by the tariffs introduced by the US government and the counter
measures adopted by the affected countries which are raising concerns relating to recession and inflation,
as well as the ensuing response of the major centra!l banks with respect to the management of monetary
policy, thereby possibly impacting the Group's future performance particularly that of the hospitality
business segment which is more susceptible to changes in disposable income.

To this effect the Board of Directors together with management remain steadfast in monitoring the unfolding
state of affairs to navigate the challenges and manage the operations of the Spinola Development Company
Limited Group in the best interest of all stakeholders,

Financial risk management

The Group's and Company's aclivities expose it to a variety of financial risks, including market risk {including
currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. Refer
{io Note 2 in these financial statements.

Results and dividends

The income statements are set out on page 15. During the year the directors declared a net dividend of
€2,214,500 (2023: €3,214,500).

Directors
The directors of the Company who held office during the year were:

Raymond Fenech
Emmanuet Fenech
Raymond Sladden

The Company's Articles of Association do not require any directors to retire.
Statement of directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements
The directors are required by the Companies Act, 1895 to prepare financial statements which give a true

and fair view of the state of affairs of the Group and the paren! Company as at the end of each reporting
period and of the profit or loss for that pericd.
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Directors’ report - continued

Statement of directors’ responsibilities for the financial statements - continued
In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsibie for:

« enswing that the financiat statements have been drawn up in accordance with international Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU;

+ selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies;
making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances;
ensuring that the financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate
to presume that the Group and the parent Company will continue in business as a going concern.

The directors are also responsible for designing, implementing and maintaining internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation and the fair presentation of the financial
statements that are free from malerial misstatement, whether due to fraud or esror, and that comply with
the Companies Act, 1995. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group and the
parent Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

The financial statements of Spinola Development Company Limited for the year ended 31 December 2024
are included in the Annual Report 2024, which is published in hard-copy printed form and may be made
available on the Tumas Group’s website. The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of
the Annual Reporl on the websile in view of their responsibility for the controls over, and the security of, the
website. Access to infermation pubiished on the Group's website is available in other countries and
jurisdiciions, where legisiation governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements may
differ from requirements or practice in Malta.

Auditors

PricewaterhouseCoopers have indicated their willingness to continue in office and a resolution for their re-
appointment will be proposed at the Annual General Meeting.

On behalf of the board

L5

. .,‘?5?\?3

BN ‘\5 o

o

. Raymond Fenech Ray 8ladde
. Director Director

' L.-' ...... [=m

Registered office:

Tumas Group Corporate Cffice
Level 3

Portomaso Business Tower
Portomaso

St. Julians

Malta

28 April 2025



Independent auditor’s report
To the Sharehoiders of Spinola Development Company Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

flur aphon
In our opinion:

s The Group financial statements and the Parent Company financial statements (the “financial
statements”) of Spinola Development Company Limited give a true and fair view of the Group and the
Parent Company’s financial position as at 31 December 2024, and of their financial performance and
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
("IFRS8s") as adopted by the EU; and

o ‘The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Maltese
Companies Act (Cap. 386).

What we have audited
Spinola Development Company Limited’s financial statements, set out on pages 13 to 62, comprise:

s the Consolidated and Parent Company statemnents of financial position as at 31 December 2024;
e the Consclidated and Parent Company income statements for the vear then ended;

¢ the Consolidated and Parent Company statements of changes in equity for the year then ended;
e the Consclidated and Parent Company statements of cash flows for the year then ended; and

e the notes to the financial statements, comprising material accounting policy information and other
explanatory information,

Basis for apinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (1SAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our
opinion,

Independence

We are independent of the Group and the Parent Company in accordance with the International Code of
Ethics for Professional Accountants {including International Independence Standards) issued by the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants (IESBA Codc) together with the ethical requircments
of the Accountancy Profession (Code of Ethies for Warrant Holders) Directive issued in terms of the
Accountancy Profession Act (Cap. 281) that are relevant te our audit of the financial statements in Malta.
We have fulfilled our other cthical responsibilitics in accordance with these Codes.
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Independent auditor’s report- s
To the Shareholders of Spinola Development Company Limited

Othar information

The directors are responsible for the other information, The other information comprises of the Directors’
report (but does not inchide the financial statements and our auditos’s report thereon).

Our epinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do nol express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon except as explicitly stated within the Report on other legal and
regulatory requirements.

In connection with our audit of the financial stalements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears te be materially
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard,

Responsibilities of the divectors for the financlal statements

The directors are responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the EU and the requirements of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap.
386}, and for such internal control as the directors determine is nccessary to cnable the preparation of
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial staternents, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Parent
Company’s ability {o continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to geing concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting inless the directors either intend to liguidate the Group or
the Parent Company or to cease operations, or have no rcalistic alternative but to do so.

Auvdiiors vesponsibilities for the audit of the financial stafements

Out objcctives are to oblain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are
tree from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes
our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee thal an audit
conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and arc considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these [inancial
statements,

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional
seepticism lhroughout the audit. We also:

= ldentify and assess the risks of material misstatement ol the financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to these risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sulficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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To the Shareholders of Spinola Development Company Limited

e Obfain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, bul not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the Group’s and the Parent Company’s internal control,

» Evaluate the appropriatencss of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accountling
estimates and related disclosures made by the directors.

e Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based an the andil evidence oltained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group or the Parent Company’s ability to continue as
a going concern, If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we arc required to draw attention in
our auditor’s reporl 1o the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to medify our opinion. Qur conclusions are based on the andit evidence obtained up to the
date of our anditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group or the Parcnt
Company lo cease lo continue as a going coneern,

e Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

& Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
informalion of the entities or business units within the Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the divection, supervision and review of the
audit work performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain solcly responsible for our audit
opinion,

We communicate with the directors regarding, among other mattcers, the planned scope and timing of the
audil and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify
during our audit.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

The Annual Report and Financial Statements 2024 contains other areas required by legislation or
regulation on which we arc required to report. The Directors are responsible lor these other areas.

The table below sets out these areas presented within the Annual Report, our related responsibilities and
reporting, in addition to our responsibilities and reporting reflected in the Other information section of our
report. Except as outlined in the table, we have not provided an andit opinion or any form of assurance.
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Independent auditor’s report - contiued

Directors’ report
{on pages 1to 6)

The Maltese Companies
Act (Cap. 386) requires
the directors to prepare a
Directors’ report, which
includes the contents
required by Article 177 of
the Act and the Sixth
Schedule to the Act,

We are required to constder
whether the information given in
Llhe Directors’ report for the
financial year for which the
financial statements are
prepaved is consistent with the
financial statemenrits.

We are also required to express
an opinion as to whether the
Directors’ report has been
prepared in accordance with the
applicable legal requirements,

[n addition, we are required to
state whether, in the light of the
knowledge and understanding of
the Company and its
environment obtained in the
course of our audil, we have
identified any material
misstatements in the Directors’
report, and if so to give an
indication of the nature of any
such misstatements.

In our opinion:

o the information given in the
Directors’ report for the
financial year for which the
financial slalements are
prepared is consistent with
the financial statements; and

¢ the Directors’ report has
been prepared in accordance
with the Maltese Companies
Act (Cap. 386).

We have nothing to report to you
in respect of the other
responsibilities, as explicitly
stated within the Other
information section,

10



Other maters on which we are
required to report by exeeption

We also have responsibilities under
the Maltese Companies Act (Cap,
386) to report to you if, in our
opinion;

adequate accounting records have
not been kept, or returns

adequate for our audit have not

been received from branches not

visited by us.

the financial statements are not

in agreement with the accounling

records and returns.

we have not received all the
information and explanations
which, to the best of our
knowledge and Dbelief, we
require for our audit.

We have nothing to report to
youl in respect of {hese
responsibilities.

11



Independent auditor’s report - coninied

To the Shareholders of Spinola Development Company Limited

Other matter - use of this report

Our report, including the opinions, has heen prepared for and ealy for the Parent Company's shareholders
as a body in accordance with Article 179 of the Maltese Companies Act (Cap. 386) and for no other purpose,
We do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assutne responsibility for any other purpose or to any other
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our
prior written consent.

ichael Formosa -
rincipal

{
[For and on behalf of
PricewaterhouseCoopers
{78, Mill Street

Zone 5, Central Business District
Qormi

Malta

28 April 2025

12
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Statements of financial position

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Investment property
Investments in subsidiaries
Trade and other receivables

Total non-current assets

Current assets

inventories

Trade and other receivables

Other financial assels at
amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents

Total current assets

Total assets

Notes

As at 31 December

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €
143,708,764 147 367,288 143,708,764 147.367,269
17,112,818 14,777,863 17,112,818 14,777,863
- - 117,621 118,791
1,947,380 2,550,379 28,296,122 18,714,539
162,768,962 164,685,511 189,235,325 180,978,462
36,397,992 31,452,329 9,214,452 7,764,591
10,191,080 25,429.212 5,733,982 23,570,004
22,211,932 11,765,877 22,211,932 11,765,877
3,857,967 7,327,931 3,127,335 6,210,706
72,658,971 75,975,349 40,287,701 49,311,178
235,427,933 240,670,860 229,523,026 230,289,640
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Statements of financial position - continued

As at 31 December

Group Company
Nates 2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES
Capitai and reserves
Share capital 11 13,652,805 13,652,805 13,652,805 13,652,805
Revaluation reserves 12 85,408,834 86,234,334 85,408,834 86,234,334
Retained earnings 55 111,381 47,021,484 48,439,156 40,324,648
Total equity 154 173 020 146 908,623 147,500,795 140,211,787
Non-current liabilities
Borrowings 14 35,361,541 24,940,669 35,361,541 24,940,669
Trade and other payables 15 1,250,000 - 6,579,837 -
Deferred tax liabilities 16 25,121,137 25,764,929 24,001,841 24,779,335
Total non-current liabilities 61,732,678 50,705,598 65,943,219 49,720,004
Current labilities
Borrowings 14 1,346,816 24,986,438 1,346,816 24,986,438
Trade and other payables 15 16,397,333 14,128,682 13,592,241 11,964,962
Current taxation 1,778,086 3,241,519 1,139,955 3,406,449
Total current liabilities 19,522,235 43,056,639 16,079,012 40,357,849
Total liabilities 81,254,913 93,762,237 82,022,231 80, 077 853
Total equity and liabilities 235,427,933 240,670,860 229,523,026 230,289,640

The notes on pages 19 to 62 are an integral part of these financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 13 to 62 were authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 April
2025 and were signed on its behalf by:

iz
i

wﬁ‘i
Raymond Fenech
Director

Ray Sladden
Direcior




Income statements

Revenue
Cost of sales

Gross profit
Administrative expenses
Other income

Operating profit
Finance income
Finance costs
Investment income

Profif before tax
Tax expense

Profit for the year

SPINOLA DEVELOPMENT COMPANY LIMITED

Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2024

Notes

17
18

18

20

21

22

Year ended 31 December

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €
52,903,357 52,097,304 48,783,333 48,847.122
(26,266,802) (26,141,625) (26,266,802) (26,141,625)
26,636,555 25055679 22,516,531 22,705,497
{11,708,574) (10,357, 441) (11,214,513) (10,275,644)
330,076 328,740 330,076 328,740
15,268,057 15,926,978 11,632,094 12,758,593
862,175 518,224 862,175 518,224
(2,566,396) {2,840,128) (2,566,396) (2,840,128)
- - 2,700,000 1,900,000
13,553,836 13,605,074 12,627,873 12,336,689
(4,074,939) (4.161,330)  (3,106,197)  (3,331,026)
9,478,897 9,443,744 9,521,676 9,005,663

The notes on pages 19 to 62 are an inlegral part of these financial statements.




SPINOLA DEVELOPMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2024

Statements of changes in equity

Share Revaluation Retained Total

Notes capital reserves earnings equity
Group € € € €
Balance at 1 January 2023 13,652,805 87,059,834 39,966,740 140,679,379
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year - - 9,443,744 9,443,744
Other movements
Reclassification from revaluation reserve
to retained earnings, net of deferred tax 12,16 - (825,500) 825,500 -
Total comprehensive income - (825,500) 10,269,244 9,443,744
Transactions with owners
Dividends paid 23 - - (3,214,500} (3,214,500)
Total transactions with owners - - (3,214,800) (3.214,500)
Balance at 31 December 2023 13,652,805 86,234,334 47,021,484 146,908,623
Balance at 1 January 2024 13,652,805 86,234,334 47,021,484 146,908,623
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year - - 9,478,897 9,478,897
Other movements
Reclassification from revaluation reserve
to retained earnings, net of deferred tax 12,16 - (825,500) 825,500 -
Total comprehensive income - (825,500) 10,304,397 9,478,897
Transactions with owners
Bividends paid 23 - - (2.214,500) (2,214,500)
Total transactions with owners - - (2,214,500) (2,214,500}
Balance at 31 December 2024 13,652,805 85,408,834 55111,381 154,173,020

The notes on pages 19 to 62 are an integral parl of these financial statements.
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SPINOLA DEVELOPMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2024

Statements of changes in equity - continued

Notes
Company

Balance at 1 January 2023

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year

Other movements

Reclassification from revaluation reserve
to retained earnings, net of deferred tax 12,16

Total comprehensive income

Transactions with owners
Dividends paid 23

Total transactions with owners

Balance at 31 December 2023

Balance at 1 January 2024

Comprehensive income
Profit for the year

Other movements
Reclassification from revaluation reserve

to retained earnings, net of deferred tax 12,16
Impact of merger of subsidiary into 13
Company

Total comprehensive income

Transactions with owners
Dividends paid 23

Total transactions with owners

Balance at 31 December 2024

Share Revaluation Retained Total
capital reserves earnings equity
€ € € €
13,652,805 87,059,834 33,707,985 134,420,624
- - 8,005,663 9,005,663
- (825,500) 825,500 -
- (825,500) 9,831,163 9,005,663
- - (3,214,500} (3,214,500}
- - (3,214,500) (3,214,500)
13,652,805 86,234,334 40,324,648 140,211,787
13,652,805 86,234,334 40,324,648 140,211,787
- - 9,621,676 9,521,676
- (825,500) 825,500 -
- - (18,168) (18,168)
- (825,500} 10,329,008 9,503,508
- - (2,214,500} (2,214,500)
- - {2,214,500) (2,214,500)
13,652,805 85,408,834 48,439,156 147,500,795

The notes on pages 19 to 62 are an integral part of these financial statements.
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SPINCLA DEVELOPMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2024

Statements of cash flows

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations
Interest received

Interest paid

Net income tax paid

MNet cash generated from operating
activities

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and

equipment and investment property
Movement in non-current receivables
Investment in financial assets
Dividend received

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayments of borrowings

Proceeds from bank borrowings
Dividends paid

Financing {o group entities

Net cash used in financing activities

Net movement in cash and cash
equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents at
beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents af end
of year

The notes on pages 19 lo 62 are an integral part of these financial statements.

Year ended 31 December

Group Company

Notes 2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €

24 33,685,710 11,826,961 36,681,919 13,348,660
687,325 220,856 687,325 220,856
(2,566,396) (2.840,128) (2,566,396) (2,840,128)
(6,882,164) (2,548,545) (6,150,391) (1,879,620)

24,924 475 6,659,144 28,652,457 8,849,768
(4,340,575) (2,578,435) (4,340,575) (2,578.435)
602,999 2,756,290 ({10,768,227) (549,630)

(10,446,055) (11,765,877)

(10,446,055) (11,765,877)

2,700,000

1,900,000

(14,483,631) (11,588,022)

(22,854,857) (12,993,942)

{25,546,591) - (25,546,591) -
12,000,000 - 12,000,000 -
(2,214,500) (3,214,500) (2,214,500) (3,214,500)
1,250,000 - 8,579,837 -
(14,511,001)  (3,214,500) {9,181,254) (3,214,500)
(3,770,247)  (8,143,378) (3,383,654) (7,358,674)

7,327,931  15471,309

10 3,557,684 7,327,931

6,210,706 13,569,380

2,827,052

6,210,706




SPINOLA DEVELOPMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2024

Notes to the financial statements

1,

Summary of material accounting policy information

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out
below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise
stated.

1.1 Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of Spinoia Development
Company Limited and ils subsidiaries. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the EU and the
requirements of the Maltese Companies Act, 1985, They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, as maodified by the fair valuation of the non-current asset category of property, plant
and squipment except as disclosed in the accounting policies below.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRSs as adopted by the EU requires the
use of cerain accounting estimates. It also requires directors to exercise their judgement in ihe
process of applying the Group's accounting policies (Note 3 - Critical accounting estimates and
judgements).

Standards, interprefations and amendments to published standards effective in 2024

In 2024, the Group adopted new slandards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards
that are mandatory for the Group's accounting period beginning on 1 January 2024. The adoption of
these revisions 1o the requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the EU did not resuit in substantial
changes to the Group's accounting policies impacting the Group's financial performance and position.

Standards, interprelations and amendments fo published standards that are not yet effective

Certain new standards, amendments and interpretations 1o existing standards have been published
by the date of authorisation for issue of these financial statements that are mandatory for the Group's
accounting perieds beginning after 1 January 2024, The Group has not early adopied these revisions
to the requirements of IFRSs as adopted by the EU,

IFRS 18 'Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements’ {effective for annual periods baginning
on or after 1 January 2027)

IFRS 18 (issued on 9 April 2024) is yet to be endorsed for use in the EU however it is set to replace
IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements, introducing new requirements that will help to achieve
comparability of the financial performance of similar entities and provide more relevan! information
and transparency to users. Even though IFRS 18 will not impact the recognition or measurement of
ilems in the financial slatements, its impacts on presentation and disclosure are expected to be
pervasive, in particular those related to the statement of financial performance. IFRS 18 will also
require the disclosure of managementi-defined performance measures within the financial
statements.

Management is cusrently assessing the detailed implications of applying the new standard on the
Group's and Company's financial statements.

The new standard will be applicable from its mandatory effective date of 1 January 2027, subject to
endorsement for use in the EU, with retrospective application.
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SPINOLA DEVELOPMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2024

Summary of material accounting policy information - continued
1.2 Consolidation

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The
Group conirols an enlity where the Group is exposed to, or has rights o, variable returns from its
involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power to direct the
activities of the entity. Subsidiaries are fully consclidated from the daie on which control is transferred
lo the Group. They are deconsoclidated from the date that control ceases,

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to accourt for business combinations. The
consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred,
the fiabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred
inctudes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred. ldentifiable assets acquired and liabilities and
contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at
the acquisition date. Cn an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling
interest in the acquiree either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of
the acquiree’s net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-contralling interestin the acquiree
and the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value
of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill. If this is less than the fair value of the
net assets of the subsidiary acquired in the case of a bargain purchase, the difference is recognised
directly in profit or loss.

Inter-Company {ransactions, balances and unrealised gains on fransactions between Group
companies are eliminated. Unrealised losses are alse eliminated. Accounting policies of subsidiaries
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopled by the Group,

In the Company's separate financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are accounted for by the
cost method of accounting. Provisions are recorded where, in the opinion of the directors, there is an
impairment in value. Where there has been an impairment in the value of an investment, it is
recognised as an expense in the period in which the diminution is identified. The resulis of the
subsidiaries are reflected in the Company’s separate financial stalements only to the extent of
dividends receivable. On disposal of an investment, the difference between the net disposal proceeds
and the carrying amount is charged or credited to profit or loss.

Alisting of the subsidiaries is set out in Note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.
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SPINCLA DEVELOPMENT COMPANY LIMITED

Summary of material accounting policy information - continued
1.3 Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency

ltems included in these financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency”).
The consclidated financial statements are presented in euro which is the Group's and Company's
functional and presentation currency.

(b} Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are remeasured. Foreign
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation
at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities dehominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in profit or loss.

All foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the income statements within ‘administrative
expenses’.

1.4 Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment is initially recorded at historical cost. Land and buildings, are shown
at fair value based on periodic valuations by qualified valuers, less subsequent depreciation for
buildings. Valuations are carried out on a regular basis such that the carrying amount of property
does not differ materially from that which would be determined using fair values at the end of the
reporting period. Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is efiminated against the
gross carrying amount of the asset, and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the
assel. All other property, plant and equipment is stated at historical cost less depreciation and
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of items. Borrowing costs which are incurred for the purpose of acquiring or constructing a qualifying
assel are capitalised as part of its cost. Borrowing costs are capitalised while acquisition or
consiruction is actively underway. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is ceased once the asset is
subslantially complete, and is suspended if the development of the asset is suspended.

Office, hotel and ancillary operational mechanical and electrical equipment, furniture, fixtures and
operational equipment are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Assets in course of construction
are not depreciated.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount, or recognised as a separate asset, as
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow
to the Group, and the cost of the ilem can be measured reliably, The carrying amount of the replaced
part is derecognised. All olher repairs and mairlenance are charged to profit or joss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation are credited to other comprehensive income
and shown as a revaluation reserve in shareholders’ equity, Decreases that offset previous increases
of the same asset are charged against the revaluation reserve direclly in equity. Ail other decreases
are charged to profit or loss. Each year the difference between depreciation based on the revalued
carrying amount of the asset charged to profit or loss and depreciation based on the asset's original
cost is {ransferred from the revaluation reserve to retained earnings.
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Summary of material accounting policy information - continued
1.4 Property, plant and equipment - continued
Freehold land is not depreciated as it is deemed o have an indefinite life, Depreciation on other

assels is calculated using the siraight-line method to allocate their cost to their residual values over
their estimated usefut lives as follows:

%
Buildings 0-7
Mechanical and electrical equipment 5-25
Furniture, fixtures and operational equipment 7-25

Assets in the course of construction are not depreciated.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are revalued, and adjusted il appropriate, at the end of
each reporting period.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the assel's
carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount {Ncte 1.7).

Gains and losses on disposal of property, plant and equipment are determined by comparing
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in profit or loss. When a revalued asset is
seld, the amount is inciuded in the revaluation reserve relating to the asset and is transferred to
retained earnings.

1.5 Investment property

Investment property, principally comprising floors in the Portomasa Business Tower and commercial
outlets, are held for long-term rental yields and are not occupied by the Group.

The Group adopts the cost model under IAS 40, ‘Investment property’, whereby investment property
is stated in the statement of financial positicn at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and
impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition
of the items. Borrowing costs which are incurred for the purpose of acquiring or constructing a
gualifying investment property are capitalised as part of its cost. Borrowing costs are capitalised while
acquisition ¢r construction is actively underway. Capitalisation of borrowing costs is ceased once the
asset is substantially complete and is suspended if the development of the asset is suspended.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised to the assetl’s carrying amount only when it is probable thal
future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the Group and the cost of the
item can be measured reliably. Alf other repairs and maintenance costs are charged 1o profit or loss
during the financial peried in which they are incurred. When part of an investmenl properly is
replaced, the carrying amaunt of the replaced part is derecognised.
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Summary of material accounting policy information - continued

1.5 Investment property - continued

Land is not depreciated as it is deemed to have an indefinite life. The capitalised costs of buildings is
depreciated using the straight-line method cver a maximum of one hundred years at most, in
accordance with their useful lives. Useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end
of each reporting period.

The fair value of these properties is disclosed in the fihancial statements and is based on active
market prices, taking into consideration the nature, location or condition of the specific asset. These
valuations are revised annually by the directors. A properly’s carrying amount is written down
immediately to its recoverable amount if its carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount (Note 1.7).

Investment properties are derecognised either when they have been disposed of or when the
investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and no future economic benefit is expected
from its disposal. Gains and losses on disposais are determined by comparing the proceeds with
carrying amaount and are recognised in profit or loss.

If an invesiment property becemes owner-cccupied, it is reclassified as property, plant and
equipment. lts cost and accumulated amortisation at the date of the reclassification becomes iis cost
and accumulated depreciation for subsequent accounting purposes. When the Group decides to
dispose of an investment property without development, the Group continues to treat the property as
an investment property. Similarly, if the Group begins to redevelop an existing investment property
for continued future use as investment property, it remains an investment property during the
redevelopment.

if an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an investment property because its use has
changed, its cost and accumulated depreciation at the date of reclassification becomes its cost and
accumulated amortisation for subsequent accounting purposes.

Where an investment property undergoes a change in use, evidenced by commencement of
development with a view to sale, the property is transferred to invenlories. A properly's deemed cost
for subsequent acceunting inventories is its carrying amount at the date of change in use

1.6 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to amortisation and are tested annually for
impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation or depreciation are reviewed for impairment
whenever evenis or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an assel's fair value less
costs {o sefl and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assels are grouped al the
lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows {cash-generating units). Non-
financial assets that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at
the end of each reporting period.
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1.  Summary of material accounting policy information - continued

1.7 Financial assets
(a) Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables comprise amounts due from customers for property sold or services performed
and rendered in the ordinary course of the Group's business. Il coliection is expected in one year or
less (or in the normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as current assets.
If not, they are presented as non-current assets,

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured at
amortised cost using the effeclive interest method, less expected credit loss allowance (Note 1.7.3).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount
of the loss is recognised in profit or loss within cost of sales and administrative expenses. When a
receivable is uncollectible, it is wrilten off against the allowance account for trade and other
receivables. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against profit or
loss.

(b} Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash eguivalenis are carried in the statement of financial position at face value. In the
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and deposits held at call
with banks and bank overdrafis. In the statement of financial position, bank overdrafts are included
within borrowings in current liabilities.

{c} Other financial assels

Other financial assets represent monetary investments held to maturity.

1.7.1 Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets as financial assets measured at amortised costs. The
ctassification depends on the entily’s business model for managing the financial assets and the
contractual terms of the cash flows. The Group classifies its financial assets at amortised cost only if
both the following criteria are met;

- The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to collect the contractual cash flows,
and

- The contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest.
Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest.

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on
initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit
risk associated with the principal amount outslanding during a particular period of time and for other
basic lending risks and costs {e.g. liquidity risk and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

in assessing whether the conlractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the
Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument, This includes assessing whether the
financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of contractual cash
flows such that it would not meet this condition.
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Summary of material accounting policy information - continued
1.7 Financial assets - continued
1.7.2 Recoagnition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, which is the
date on which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised
when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have been transferred
and the Group has transferred substantially ali the risks and rewards of ownership.

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair value plus, in the case of a
financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), fransaction costs thal are directly
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset,

Interest income on debt instruments measured at amortised cost from these financial assets is
included in finance income using the effective interest rate method. Any gain or loss arising on
derecognition of these instruments is recognised directly in profit or loss and presented in other
gains/{losses) together with foreign exchange gains and losses. impairment losses are presented as
a separate line item in the consolidated statement of profit or oss.

1.7.3 Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expecled credit losses (ECL) associated with its
debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on
whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk. The Group’s financial assefs are subject
{o the expected credit loss model.

Expected credit loss model

The Group measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, except for the following,
which are measured at 12-month ECLs!

« debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

» other debt securities and bank balances for which credit risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition.

When determining whethers the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group cansiders reasonable and supportable informalion
that is relevant and available without undue cost or efforl. The Group assumes that the cradit risk on
a financial asset has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past due, and it considers a
financial asset to be in default when the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group
in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as realising security (if any is held); or the
financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

Lifelime ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. 12-month ECLs are the portion of ECLs that result from default events lhat are
possible within the 12 months after the reporting date {(or a shorier period if the expected life of the
instrument is less than 12 months), The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk,

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit [osses. Credit losses are measured as the present
value of all cash shortfalls. ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.
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1. Summary of material accounting policy information - continued
1.7 Financial assets - continued
1.7.3 Impairment - continued

Al each reporting date, the Group assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised cosi are
credit-impaired. A financial assetis ‘credit-impaired’ when ane or mare events that have a detrimental
impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a
financial asset is credit-impaired includes abservable data such as significant financial difficulty of the
borrower or issuer, or a breach of contract such as a default or being more than 96 days past due.

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross
carrying amount of the assets.

Simplified approach model

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach required by IFRS 8, which requires
expected lifetime osses to be recognised from initial recognition of the receivables.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 12 months befcre
31 December, respectively, and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this
period. The historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking informaticn on
macroeconemic faciors affecting the liability of the customers to settle the receivable. Trade
receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there
is ho reasonable expectation of recovery inciude, among others, the probability of insclvency or
significant financial difficulties of the deblor. Impaired debts are derecognised when they are
assessed as uncollectible.

1.8 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value, and include transport and handling
costs, determined on a weighted average basis. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business, less applicable selling expenses.

Property held for development and resale

When the main object of a property project is the development for resale purposes, the asset is
classified in the financial statemeanis as inventory. Any elements of the project which are identified for
business operation or long-term investments properties are transferred at their carrying amount or
fair value to property, plan! and equipment or investment property when such identificalion is made
and the cost thereof can be reliably segregated.

The development property is carried at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The purchase cost
of acquiring the property represents the cash equivalent value of the contracted price. In case of land
previously held as tangible non-current assets, the transfer value is the carrying value of the land as
last revalued prior to its transfer to inventories.

Cost comprises the purchase cost of acquiring the property together with other costs incurred during
its subsequent developmenl by specifically idenlifying the cost of individual items including:

+ The cosis incurred on development works and construction works in progress, including
demolition, site clearance, excavation, construction and acquisition costs, together with the
expenses incidental to acquisilion and costs of ancillary adlivities such as site security;

» The cost of various design and other studies conducted in connection with the project, together
with all other expenses incurred in connaclion therewith;
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Summary of material accounting policy information - continued
1.8 Inventories - continued

» Any borrowing costs, including imputed interests, attributable to the development phases of the
property project;

» Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs
of completion and selling expenses.

Property held for development and resale - conlinued

Gains and losses on disposal of property inventories are determined by reference to their carrying
amount and are taken into account in determining gross profit. On disposal of a revalued asset,
amounts in the revaluation reserve relating to that asset are transferred to retained earnings.

1.9 Financial liabilities

The Group recognises a financial liability in its statement of financia! position when it becomes a parly
to the contractual provisions of the instrument. The Group’s financial liabilities, other than derivative
contracts, are classified as financiai liabilities measured at amortised cost, i.e. not at fair value through
profit or loss under IFRS 8. Financial liabilities not at fair value through profit or loss are recognised
initially at fair value, being the fair value of consideration received, net of transaction costs that are
directly attributable to the acquisition or the issue of the financial liability. These liabilities are
subsequently measured at amortised cost. The Group derecognises a financial liability from its
statement of financial position when the obiigation specified in the contract or arrangement is
discharged, is cancelled or expires.

{a) Trade and other payables

Trade payables comprise obligations 1o pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the
ordinary course of business from suppliers. Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if
payment is due within one year or less {or in the normal operating cycle of the business if ionger). If
not, they are presented as non-current liabiiities.

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value and subsequently measured al
amortised cost using the effective interest method.

{b) Borrowings

Borrowings are recognised initially at the fair value of proceeds received, net of fransaction costs
incurred. Borrowings are subsequently carried at amortised cost; any difference between proceeds
(net of transaction costs) and the redemption value is recognised in profit or loss over the period of
the borrowings using the effective interest method. Borrowings are classified as current liabilities
unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liabilily for at least twelve
months after the end of the reporting period.

Issue costs incurred in connection with the issue of the secured bonds and loans from fellow
subsidiaries include mainly arraignment, manager fees and professional fees,
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110 Current and deferred tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred {ax. Tax is recognised in the profit or
loss, except to the extent thal it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive income or directly
in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,

Current 1ax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the vear, using tax rates enacted
or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting pericd, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax is recognised, using the liability method, on temperary differences arising between the
tax bases of assels and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. However,
deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset or liabilty in a
transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affecls neither
accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have
been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of the reporting period and are expected to apply
when the related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax liability is settled.

Under this method the Group is required to make provision for deferred income taxes on the
revaluation of certain properly assets on the difference between the carrying values or financial
reporting purposes and their tax base. Such deferred tax is charged or credited directly to the reserve,

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will
be available against which the temgporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset current
tax assels against current 1ax liabilities and when the deferred income tax assets and liabilities relate
to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different taxabie
entities where there is an intentien to settle the balances on a net basis.

1.11 Provisions

Provisions for legal claims are recognised when the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of past events, it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic
benelfits will be required o setile the obligation, and the amount has been reliably estimated.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected tc be required to settle
the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due fo passage of time is
recognised as finance costs.
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1.12 Revenue recognition

Revenues include all revenues from the ordinary business activities of the Group. Ordinary activities
do not anly refer to the cose business but also 1o other recurring sales of goods or rendering of
services. Revenues are recorded net of value added tax. The Group’s business includes property
sales, property rentals and sales of services in the hospitality industry, carpark, marina, tower bar
and complex management operations.

(a) Sale of goods and services

Revenues are recognised in accordance with the provision of goods or services, provided that
colleclability of the consideration is probable.

IFRS 15 requires that at contract inception the goods or services promised in a contract with a
customer are assessed and each promise to transfer to the customer the good or service is identified
as a performance obligation. Promises in a contract can be explicit or impticit if the promises create
a valid expectation to provide a gocd or service based on the customary business practices,
published policies, or specific statements.

IFRS 15 provides more delailed guidance on how lo account for contract modifications. Changes
must be accounted for either as a retrospective change {creating either a catch up or deferral of
previously recorded revenues), prospeclively with a reallocation of revenues amongst identified
performance obligations, or prospeclively as separale contracts which will not require any
reallocation.

Property sales

The Group deveiops and sells properties for commercial and residential purposes. Revenue is
recognised when conlrol over the property has been transferred to the client. The properties have
generally no alternative use for the Group after legal title has passed to the customer due to
contractual restrictions. An enforceable right to payment does not arise untit Jegal title has passed to
the customer. These transaclions generally relate to properly delivered in a finished state. The period
for execution of these transaction generally exceeds 12 months but rarely goes beyond 24 moenths.
The Group considers the conditiens set in the property transfer contract which includes the transfer
of the title of the properly and all the related building and finishes as one performance obligation. This
is because the goods or services provided by the Group are not separately identifiable from other
promises in the contract. In effect, the customer expects and has contracted lo receive the property
in a finished state. Although the goods or services received by the customer from the Group are
capable of being distinct (for e.g. the overall management of the project, site preparation,
construction, plumbing, electrical services and other finishing), these are all be combined into one
performance obligation.
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1.12 Revenue recognition - continued

{a} Sale of goods and services - continued

Properiy sales - continued

The Group recognises revenue from the point in lime when the Jegal title has passed to the customer
until all the confractuat performance obligation are executed and delivered. Generally, the entity's
performance creates or enhances an asset that the customer conirols as the asset is created or
enhanced. The client canlrols the asset upon the transfer of property title. Therefore, as the finishing
works are being performed by the Group, it is the customer who controls the assets being created
from such works. In measuring revenue over time, management measures its progress towards
complete satisfaction of that performance obligation, in order fo determine the timing of revenue
recognition. The purpose of measuring progress towards satisfaction of a performance obligation is
to recognise revenue in a pattern that reflects the transfer of control of the promised good or service
to the customer.

On the allocation of the total contract transaction price to identified portions of performance
obligations, a portion of the lolal transaction price can be allocated to performance obligations
portions that are unsatisfied or partially satisfied at the end of the reporting period. These are referred
to as unfulfilled performance obligations and are the goods or services that the Group is obliged to
provide 1o clients and customers during the remaining fixed term of the contract.

The revenue is measured at the transaction price agreed under the contract and the consideration is
due when legal title has been transferred. In most cases, this give rise to contract liabilities in the
forim of advance deposits for portion of the performance obligations not vet executed by the Group at
the date of the contract. While deferred payment terms may be agreed in rare circumstances, the
deferral never exceeds twelve months. The transaction price is therefore not adjusted for the effects
of a significant financing component.

The Greup does not consider costs to fulfil contracts io be significant as costs in connaction with
property sales will generally fall within the scope of IAS 2 - Inventories, until disposal of the asset, at
which stage the asset recognised from capitalising the costs to obtain or fulfil a contract is amortised
on a systematic basis consistent with the pattern of the transfer of the goods or services to which the
asset relates. Since the performance obligation wil! be satisfied over time, the Group release these
costs using a method consistent with the method used to measure progress and recognise revenue,
The assumptions underlying the period over which the costs are expensed are periodically reviewed
and adjusted in line with chservations. Termination of the contractual retationship with the customer
results in the immediate expensing of the remaining deferred costs. Where the carrying amount of
deferred costs exceeds the remaining consideration expected to be received for the transfer of the
related goods and services, less expected costs relating direclly to the transfer of these goods and
services still to be incurred, the excess amount is similarly immediately expensed,

Saies of services in the hospitality activity

Revenue from services is generally recognised in the accounting peried in which the services are
rendered, by reference lo compietion of the specific transaction assessed on the basis of the actual
service provided as a proportion of the total services to be provided. Revenue arising on hospitality
activities are recognised when the service is performed and goods are supplied. Revenue is usually
in cash, credit card or en credit. The recarded revenue includes credit card fees pavable for the
transaction.
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1.12 Revenue recognition - continued

{a) Sale of goods and services - continued

Sales of goods - retail

Sales of goods are recagnised when the Group has delivered products to the customer and there is
no unfulfilled obligation that could affect the customer’s acceptance of the products, Delivery does
not occur until the risks of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the customer, and the
customer has accepted the products. Retail sales are usuaily in ¢ash or by credit ¢ard. The recorded
revenue includes credit card fees payable for the transaction. Such fees are included in finance costs.
Restaurant and bar sales are reccgnised upon performance of the service.

Sales of services

Sales of services including income from marina, car park and complex management are recognised
in the accounting period in which the services are provided, by reference to completion of the specific
transaction assessed on the basis of the actuat service provided as a proportion of lhe total services
to be provided,

Financing

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period between the transfer of the
promised goods or services to the customer and payment by the customer exceeds one year. As a
censequencs, the Group does not adjust any of the {ransaction prices for the time value of money.

(b} Property rentals and related income

Renis receivable, premia charged tc tenants of immovable property are recognised in the period
when the property is occupied. Premia are taken to the income statement aver the period of the
leases to which they relate,

{c} Dividend income

Dividend income is recagnised when the right to receive paymant is established.
1.13 Finance income and costs

Finance income and costs are recognised in profit or loss for all interest-bearing instruments on an
accrual basis using the effective interest method.

When a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its recoverable amount,
being the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest rate of the
instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income on impaired
leans is recognised using the original effective interest rate. Finance costs includes the effect of
amortising any difference between net proceeds and redemption value in respect of the Group's
borrowings.
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1.14 |eases
Where the Group is a lessor

Assets leased oul under operating leases are included in investment property in the statement of
financial position. They are deprecialed over their expected useful lives on a basis consisten! with
similar owned invesiment property. Rental income is recognised as it accrues, unless collectabilily
is in doubt,

1.15 Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs which are incurred for the purpose of acquiring or constructing qualifying property,
plant and equipmenl, invesiment property or property held for development and resale are capitalised
as part of its cost. Borrowing costs are capitalised while acquisition or construction is actively
underway, during the period of time that is required to complete and prepare the asset for its intended
use. Capilalisation of borrowing cosls is ceased once the asset is substanlially compiete and is
suspended if the development of the asset is suspended. All other borrowing costs are expensed.
Borrowing costs are recognised for all interest-bearing instruments on an accrual basis using the
effective inlerest method. Inieresl costs include the effect of amortising any difference between inittal
net proceeds and redemption value in respect of the Group’s interast-bearing borrowings.

1.16 Dividend distribution

Cividend distribution to the Company's shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group's and
Company's financial statements in the period in which the dividends are approved by the Company's
shareholders.

Financial risk management

2.1 Financial risk factors

The activities of the Group, of which the Company forms part of, potentially expose it to a variety of
financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate risk and cash flow interest
rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management, covering risk exposures
for all subsidiaries focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential
adverse effects on the Group's financial performance.

The parent Company Board of Directors provides principles for overall Group risk management, as
well as policies covering risks referred {o above and specific areas such as investment of excess
liquidity. Risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (Group treasury) under
policies approved by the Board of Direclors. The Group did not make use of derivative financial
instruments to hedge certain risk exposures during the current and preceding financial years.
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2.1 Financial risk factors - continued
(a) Markot risk

(i} Foreign exchange risk

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions and recognised assels and
liabilities which are denominated in a currency that is not the respective Group's funclional currency,

The Group is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising primarily from the Group’s purchases, a part
of which are denominated in the US dollar. Management does not consider foreign exchange risk
altributable to recognised liabilities arising from purchase transactions to be significant since
balances are settled within very short periods in accordance with the negotiated credit terms. Also
foreign exchange risk attributable to future fransactions is not deemed to be material since the Group
manages the risk by refiecting, as far as is practicable, the impact of exchange rate movements
registered with respecl to purchases in the respective sales prices.

All the Group's loans and receivables, cash and cash equivalent and borrowings are denominated in
euro.

In view of the above, a sensitivity anatysis for foreign exchange risk disclosing how profit or loss and
equity would have been affecled by changes in foreign exchange rates that were reasenably possible
at the end of reporting year is not deemed necessary.

(i} Cash fiow and fair value interest rate risk

The Group does nol have significant interest-bearing assets, and its income and cperating cash flows
are substantially independent of changes in market interest rates. The Group's interest rate risk
arises from long-term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates, comprising bank borrowings
(Note 14}, expose Lhe Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group's borrowings are subject to an
interest rate that varies according to revisions made to the Bank’s Base Rate. Managemeant monitors
the level of floating rate borrowings as a measure of cash flow risk taken on. Borrowings issued at
fixed rates, cansisling primarily of loans from fellow subsidiary which are carried at amortised cost
{Note 14) and therefore do not expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk.

Based on the above, management considers the potential impact on profit or Joss of a defined interest
rate shift that is reasonably possible at the end of the reporting period to be immaterial.
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2.1 Financial risk factors - continued
(b} Credit risk

Credit risk principally arises from cash and cash equivalents comprising depesits with financial
institutions, investment in debt securities, loans and advances to related pariies, and credit exposures
to clients and customers, including outstanding receivables and committed transactions. The Group’s
and the Company's principal exposures to credit risk as at the end of the reporting pericd are
analysed as follows and is equivalent to their carrying amount as disclosed in the respective notes to
the financial statements. The figures disciosed in the table below in respect of trade and other
receivables exclude prepayments and advance payments on projects, on which no credit risk is
deemed (o arise.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period was:

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €
Carrying amount
Financial assets measured at amortised cost
Trade and other receivables {Note 7) 6,395,410 24,727,321 30,762,173 40,742,774
Other financial assets at amortised cost
(Note 9) 22,211,932 11,765,877 22,211,932 11,765,877
Cash and cash equivalents (Note 10) 3,857,967 7,327,931 3,127,335 6,210,706

32,465,309 43.821,129 56,101,440 58,719,357

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the end of the reporting period in respect of the trade
receivables by type of customer was:

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €
Property development and management 2,438,948 2,281,492 1,147,858 659,785
Hospitality 1,063,719 805,188 1,063,719 805,188

3,502,667 3,086,680 2,211,577 1464973

The Group and the Company holds collateral as security for the receivables within the property
development and management related sector for an amount of €570,365 (2023: €573,000).

34



SPINOLA DEVELOPMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2024

Financial risk management - continued

2.1 Financial risk factors - conlinued
{(b) Credit risk - continued

Trade and other receivablges

The Group assesses the credit quality of its trade customers, the majority of which are unrated, taking
info account financial position, pasl experience and olher factors. The Group's exposure lo credit risk
is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. [t has pelicies in place to
ensure that sales of goods and services are effected to customers with an appropriate credit history.
Standard credit lerms are in place for individual clients, however, wherever possible, new corporale
customers are analysed individually for creditworthiness before the Group's standard payment and
setvice delivery terms and conditions are offered. The creditworthiness analysis for new customers
includes a raview through external sources when available. The Group monilors the perfermance of
its trade and other receivables on a regular basis to identify incurred collection losses, which are
inherent in the Group’s debtors, taking into account historical experience in collection of accounts
receivable.

In view of the nature of the Group's activities and the market in which it operates, a limited number
of custemers account for a cerfain percentage of the Group's trade and other receivables. Whilst no
individual customer or Group of dependent customers is considered by management as a significant
concentration of credit risk with respect to contractual debis, these exposures are monitored and
reported more frequently and rigorously. These customers trade frequently with the respective Group
undertakings and are deemed by management to have positive credit standing, usually taking
cognisance of the performance history without defaults,

The Group manages credit limits and exposures actively in a practicable manner such that past due
amounts receivable from customers are within controlled parameters. The Group's trade and other
receivables, which are not credit impaired financial assels, are principally debts in respect of
transactions with customers for whom there is no recent history of default. Management does not
expect any significant losses from non-performance by these customers.

impairment of trade and other receivables

The Group applies the (FRS 9 simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses which uses
a lifetime expected loss allowance for all frade receivables,

To measure the expected credit losses, trade receivables have been grouped based on shared credit
risk characteristics and the days past due,
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Financial risk management - continued

2.1 Financial risk factors - continued
(b) Credit risk - continued
impairment of trade and ofher receivables - continued

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of time before the
reporting date and the corresponding historical credit losses experienced within this period. The
historical loss rates are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information on macroeconomic
factors affecting the ability of the customers to settle the receivables. The Group adjusts the historical
loss rates based on expected changes in these factors. On that basis, the Joss aflowance for the
Group and the Company as at 31 December 2024 amounted to €408,054 and €278,115 respactively
(31 December 2023: €306,828 and €255,736 respectively). No further analysis of these loss
allowances have been disclosed in these financial statements as the overall allowances are not
deemed material in the context of the Group's financial position and performance.

The Group established an allowance for impairment that represented its estimate of expected credit
losses in respect of trade and other receivables. The individually credit impaired trade receivables
mainly relate to a number of independent customers which are in unexpectedly difficult economic
situations and which are accordingly not meeting repayment obligations, Hence, provisions for
impairment in respect of credit impaired balances with corporate trade customers relate to entities
which are in adverse trading and operational circumsiances. Reversals of provisions for impairment
of credit impaired receivables arise in those situations where customers recover from unfavourable
circumstances and accordingly start meeting repayment obligations. The Group and the Company
do not hold any significant collateral as security in respect of the credil impaired assets.

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable expectation of recovery, Indicators that
there is no reasonable expectation of recovery include, amongsl others, the failure of a debtor to
engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and a failure to make contractual payments for a period.

Impairment losses on trade receivables and contract assels are presenied as net impairment losses
within operating profit. Subsequent recoveries of amounts written off are credited against the same
line item.

Cash and cash equivalents

The Group principally banks with local and European financial institutions with high-quality standing
or rating.

While cash and cash equivalents are also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss is insignificant.

Other financial assets at amortised cost

The Group is not exposed to significant credit risk in respect of debt securities which comprise
German, Dutch, French, Belgian and Maltese Government Securities listed on their respective Stock
Exchange (Note 9) taking into account the level of such investments. Accordingly the expected credit
loss is deemed to be insignificant.
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Financial risk management - continued

2.1 Financial risk factors - continued
{b) Credif risk - continued

Loans receivable from subsidiaries and amountis due from subsidiaries

The Group and the Company's seceivables include loans receivable from subsidiaries and fellow
subsidiaries (Notes 7 and 15). The Group monitors intra-Group credit exposures at individual entity
level on a regular basis and ensures timely performance of these assets in the context of cverall
Group liquidity management. The Group assesses the credit quality of these related parties taking
inte account financial position, performance and other factors. The Group takes cognisance of the
related pariy relationship with these entities and management does not expect any significant losses
from non-performance or default.

The Company considers the amount owed by the subsidiary as a Stage 1 exposure for IFRS 9
purposes {i.e. performing) in view of the factors highlighted above. The expected credit loss
allowances on such exposure is based on the 12-month probability of default, capturing 12-month
expected losses and hence are considered insignificant.

(c) Liquidity risk

The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in relation to meeting future obligations associated with ils
financial liabilities, which comprise principally ‘trade and other payables’ and ‘interest-bearing
borrowings’ (Notes 156 and 14}). Prudenti liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash
and committed credit fines to ensure the availability of an adequate amount of funding io meet the
Group's obligations,

Management monitors liquidity risk by means of cash flow {orecasts on the basis of expected cash
flows over a 12-month pericd detailed by the Group segments to ensure thal no additional financing
facilities are expected to be required over the coming year.

Moreover, annual detailed cash flow projections are prepared to assess the matching of cash inflows
and outflows arising from expected maturities of financial instruments. The Group manages its
hguidity risk through this continuous assessment, coupled with the Group's commilled borrowing
facilities (that it can access) to meet liquidity needs as referred to previously.

The carrying amounts of the Group's assels and liabilities are analysed into relevant maturity
Groupings based on the remaining period at the statement of financial position to the contractual
maturity date in the respective notes to the financial statements.

The following table analyses the Group's and Company’s financial liabilities into relevant maturity
Groupings based on the remaining period at the statement of financial position to the contractual
matusity date.
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Financial risk management - continued

2.1 Financial risk factors - continued

(c) Liquidity risk - continued

The amounts disclosed in the table are the contraciual undiscounted cash flows. Balances due within
twelve months equal their carrying balances, as the impact of discounting is not significant.

Group

31 December 2024

Bank borrowings

Loan from fellow subsidiary
Trade and other payables

31 December 2023
Loans from fellow subsidiary
Trade and other payables

Company

31 December 2024

Bank borrowings

Loans from fellow subsidiary
Trade and other payables

31 December 2023
Leans from fellow subsidiary
Trade and other payables

Carrying = Contractual Within One to Over
amount  cash flows one year five years five years

€| € € € €
11,753,692 | 13,671,648 1,707,065 5,627,128 6,337,455
24,954,665 | 27,428,664 962,500 26,466,164 -
16,698,960 ' 16,698,960 15,848,960 850,000 -
53,407,317 57,799,272 18,518,625 32,943,392 6,337,455
49,927,107 54,137,842 26,709,178 27428664 -
13,647,342 13,647,342 13,647,342 - -
63,574,449 | 67,785,184 40,356,520 27,428,664 -
Carrying | Contractual Within One to Over
amount | cash flows onhe year five years five years

€ € € € €
11,753,692 13,671,648 1,707,065 5,627,128 6,337,455
24,954,665 | 27,428,664 962,500 26,466,164 -
20,004,181 | 20,004,181 13,424,344 6,579,837 "
56,712,538 | 61,104,493 16,093,909 38,673,129 6,337,455
49,927 107 | 54,137.842 26,709,178 27.428,664 -
11,740473 | 11,740,473 11,740,473 - -
61,667 580 | 65,878,315 38,449 651 27,428,664 -
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Financial risk management - continued
2.2 Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern in order ta provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakehoiders and to
maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital. To maintain or adjust its capital
structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares or
sell assets to reduce debt.

The Group maonitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as structural
borrowings divided by total capital.

Total capital is measured by reference to the amounts reflected in the consolidated financial
stalements where the property, plant and equipment are stated at revalued amounts that are regularly
assessed and updated as necessary. Reported equity is adjusted for fair value surplus (net of
deferred tax) over the notionat carrying amount of investment property.

Furthermore, the Group has not taken account of potential fair value surpluses related to a number
of undeveloped properties within its inventory portfolio. These properties comprise namely, the
Halland Jand and the directium dominium related to the Portomaso land. The directors consider the
potential increase over the recorded base cost from the respective revaluations as latent equity which
will be realized when the respective property earning potential is crystalized.

Structural berrowings include all interest bearing borrowings stated net of any funds made available
for the repayment of such liabilities. Borrowings include loans from a fellow subsidiary {Tumas
Investments p.l.c.) whese unsecured bonds and bank borrowings are secured and guaranteed by the
Company.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

Group

2024 2023

€ €

Total borrowings (Note 14) 36,708,357 49,927,107
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 10) {3,857,967) (7.327,931)
Less: Other financial assets at amortised costs {Note 9) (22,211,932) {11,765,877)
Net borrowings 10,638,458 20,833,299
Reported equity 154,173,020 146,908,823
Adjustment for fair value on investment property 33,168,920 26,459,423
Total equity 187,341,940 173,368,046
Total capital 197,980,398 204,201 345
Gearing 5% 15%
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2.  Financial risk management - continued
2.3 Fair values of financial instruments

The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market is determined by using
valuation techniques. The Group uses as a variety of methods and makes assumptions that are
based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting period. Refer to Note 4 for details
of such techniques.

Financial instruments hot measured at fair value

The carrying amounts of cash at bank, trade receivables (net of impairment provisions), debt
investments payables and short term borrowings are assumed to approximate their fair values in view
of the nature of the instruments or their short term maturity.

The fair value of non-current financiat liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimaled by discounting
the future contractual cash flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Group for
similar financial instruments. The fair value of the Group’s bank borrowings (Note 14) as at the end
of the reporting period is not matenaily different from the carrying amounts.

3. Critical accounting estimates and judgements

Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and based on historical experience and other
factors including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

In the opinion of the directors, the accounting estimates and judgements made in the course of
preparing these financial statements are not difficult, subjective or complex to a degree which would
warrant their description as critical in terms of the requirements of IAS 1,

As referred to in Note 4 to the financial statements, the Group’s and Company’s land and buildings
category of property, plant and equipment is fair valued on the basis of valuation techniques.
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Property, plant and equipment

Mechanical Furniture,
Land Assets not and fixtures and
and yet electrical operational
buildings commissioned equipment equipment Total
Group and Company € € € € €
At 1 January 2023
Cost or valuation 143,698,401 492,040 30,344,309 22,316,951 196,851,791
Accumulated depreciation (6,956,385) - {24,297.857) (14,8BD02,447) (48,146,485
Net book amount 136,742,036 492 040 6,046,742 7424 504 150,705,322
Year ended 31 December 2023
Opening net book amount 136,742,038 492 040 6,046,742 7424 504 150,705,322
Additions and other transfers 14,955 203,210 654,491 451,981 1,324,637
Disposals (2,027} - - (39,601 (41,628)
Depreciation charge {2,388,202) - {(750,118)  {1,519.281)  (4,655,681)
Depreciation released on
disposal 2,027 - - 32,492 34,519
Ciosing net back amount 134,370,788 695,250 5,951,115 6350115 147,367,269
At 31 December 2023
Cost or valuation 143,711,329 695,250 30,998,850 22,729,331 198,134,800
Accumulated depreciation {9,340,540) - (28,047, 775) (16,379,216) (50,767.531)
Net book amount 134,370,789 695,250 5,951,115 6350115 147,367,269
Year ended 31 December 2024
Opening net book amount 134,370,789 695,250 5,951,115 6,350,115 147,367,269
Additions and other transfers 24,638 {312,256) 968,844 950,177 1,631,403
Disposals - - (15,174) {43,389) (58,563)
Net {ransfers to investment
property (479,067) - (87,852) (25.017) {591,936)
Depreciation charge (2,362,761) - {772,339)  (1539.154) {4,674,254)
Depreciation released on
disposal - - 3,900 30,945 34,845
Closing net book amount 131,553,599 382,994 6,048,494 5,723,677 143,708,764
At 31 December 2024
Cost or valuation 143,152,490 382,894 31,184,907 23,550673 198,271,064
Accumuiated depreciation (11,598,891) - (25,136,413} (17,826,998) (54,562,300}
Net bock amount 131,553,599 382,994 6,048,494 5,723,677 143,708,764
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Property, piant and equipment - contimied
Fair valuation of property

In previous financial years, the directors approved the revaluation of the Group's and Company's
property, planl and equipment, which comprises the Hilton Hotel, the Portomasc car park and related
anciillary operations, after assessing the valuations prepared by professionally qualified valuers. The
valuation is based on the discounted cash flow methodology. The book value of the property has
been adjusted {o the revaluation and the resultant surplus, net of applicable deferred income taxes,
has been credited {o the revaluation reserve in other comprehensive income within shareholders’
equity {Note 12}. The Group’s and the Company's investment property portfolio (Note 5) principaly
comprises {he Porfomaso Business Towers and commercial outlets which are leased out principally
to third parties. Ceriain areas within this pertfclio are also rented out to fellow subsidiaries within the
Tumas Group.

The directors have also approved a valuation as at 31 December 2024 prepared internally by
management to assess the fair value of the Group’s and Company's property, ptant and equipment,
particudarfy the Hilton Holel. This valuation is also based on the discounted cashflow methodology.
The directors are of the opinion that the carrying amount of property, plant and equipment as at 31
December 2024, does not differ materially from that which would be determined using fair values that
take account of the above considerations.

The Group and the Company are required to anatyse non-financial asseis carried at fair value by
level of the fair value hierarchy wilhin which the recurring fair value measurements are categorised
in their entirety {Level 1, 2 or 3). The different levels of the fair value hierarchy have been defined as
fair value measurements using:

+  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets (Level 1);

+ [nputs other than quoled prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset, either
directly {that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (Level 2),

+ |nputs for the asset that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)
(Level 3).

All the recurring property fair value measurements at 31 December 2024 use significant unobservable
inpuis and are accordingly categorised within Level 3 of the fair valuation hierarchy.

The Group's and the Company's policy is to recognise transfers into and out of fair value hierarchy
levels as of the beginning of the repetling period. There were no transfers between different levels
of the fair value hierarchy during the year ended 31 December 2024.

A reconciliation from the opening balance to the closing balance of land and buildings for recurring
fair value measurements calegorised wilhin Level 3 of the value hierarchy is reflected in the table
above. Movements reflect additions, disposals, net transfers to investment property and depreciation
for the year ended 31 December 2024,

Valuation processes

The Group and Company’s property is valued by the Directors, generally taking cognisance of
professional advice from independent professionally quatified valuers who hold a recognised rejevant
professional qualification and have the necessary experience in the location and segments of the
property being valued. When exlernal valuations are carried out in accerdance with this process, the
valuer reports directly to the Board of Direclors and discussions on the valuation technigue, the model
utilised and its results, including an evaluation of the inputs to the valuation model, are held at Board
level. A new valuation is typically commissioned to an external valuer, whenever, in the opinion of
the Board of
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Property, plant and equipment - continued
Valuation processes - continued

Directors, new circumstances arise which may suggest that a material change in value in the
underlying property has occurred.

At ihe end of every reporting period, when an external valuation is not carried out, the Directors
assess whether any significant changes in actual circumstances and developmenis have been
experienced since the last external valuation. On an annual basis, management updates internally
developed valuation models which are based on the discounted cash flow and comparable sales
value approaches, for the purpose of ascertaining whether the carrying amount of the key
components within the Group’s property portfolio are significantly different from estimated fair values.
An adjustment to the carrying amount of the property is only reflected if it has been determined thal
there has been significant change.

Vailuation techhigues

Given the specific nature of these assets, the valuations of the Level 3 property have been petformed
by reference to valuation models. These valuation models include:

¢ inthe case of the Hiltan Hotel, the Portomaso car park and rejated anciltary operations classified
as property, plant and equipment, the property, plant and equipment’s discounted projected cash
flows; and

» in the case of the Portomaso Business Tower and commercial outlets leased out and classified
as investment property, the capitalisation of the rental income based on a three-year average.

The future cash flows from operating the Hilton Hotel and relaled ancillary operations {including the
Portomaso car park) have been derived from financial forecasts assessed in relation to past
performance and the industry's general outlook. The significant inputs to this approach include:

Net cash inflows based on the actual operating net cash inflows generated and projected

forwards faor a ten year period. These cash flows take inte consideration

periodic capital expenditure based on expected refurbishment costs that

will be incurred over the period of projections,

Growth rate based on management’s estimated average growth in the hotel's operating
cash flows; and

Discount rate reflecting current market assessments of the uncertainty in the amount and
timing of cash flows, and based on current market risk free rates, an equity
market risk premium and other risk premiums allached 1o an investment

in the properly being valued including any element of projection risk
inherent in the projected future cash flows;

Terminal value based on the properties’ net operating cash flows al the end of the ten year

projeclion period, and capitalised at a capitalisation rate that reflects the

properties’ actual jocalion, size and gquality and taking info account market

data at the valuation date.
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Property, plant and equipment - continued
Valuation fechniques - continued

Information about fair value measurements of property, plant and equipment using significant
unobservabile inputs (Level 3) include average post-tax net cash flows of €8.3 million (2023: post-tax
net cash flows of €7.5 milfion) in the explicit period with an average growth rate of 2% (2023: 2%) in
the residual value and a post-tax discount rate of 7.46% (2023: post-tax discount rate of 7.46%).

The significant unobservable inputs in the valuation of the Portomaso Business Tower and
commercial outliets leased out include the average annuai rental value of the propetties, and a
capitalisation rate that reflects the properties’ actual location, size and quality and taking into account
market data at the valuation date. The capitalisation rates ranges from 6% to 12% which reflects
the risk inherent in the utilisation of the specific properties.

In respect of these valuations, the higher the post-tax operating cash inflows, growth rate, and
terminal value, the higher the fair value. Conversely, the lower the discounl rate, the estimated
refurbishment costs, and capitalisation rate used in calculating the terminal value, the higher the fair
value.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of land and buildings within property, plant and
equipment amounts to €87,400,000 and €64,153,599. (2023: €67,400,000 and €66,970,789). The
carrying amount of land and buildings would have been €863,468 and €16,142,599 respectively
(2023: €863,468 and €18,959,789) had the assets been included in the financial statements at cost,

Depreciation charge of €4,674,254 (2023: €4,655,581) is included in the Group’s and Company’s
income statements as follows: €4,631,203 (2023: €4,618,917) in cost of sales and €43,051 (2023
€36,664) in administrative expenses.

Borrowings are secured by the Group's property, plant and equipment (Note 14),
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5. Investment property
Group and Company
2024 2023
€ €
Year ended 31 December
Opening net book amount 14,777,863 14,288,759
Nel transfesrs from property, plant and equipment 591,936 -
Additions 2,709,172 1,253,798
Disposals (72,241) {1,379)
Depreciation charge {897,396) (783,315)
Depreciation released on disposal 3,484 -
Closing net book amount 17,112,818 14,777 883
At 31 December
Cost or valuation 28,318,500 24,244,993
Accumulated depreciation (11,205,682) (9,467,130)
Nel book amount 17,112,818 14,777,863

As at 1 January 2023, the cost and accumulated deprecialion of the Group’s and Company’s
investment property amounted to €22,992. 574 and €8,703,815 respeciively. Depreciation charge of
€897,398 (2023: €763,315) is included in cost of sales.

Borrowings are secured by the Group's investment property (Note 14).

The fair open market value of investment property as at 31 December 2024 is estimated by the
directors at €53,967,174 (2023; €44,177,222) on the basis of the present value of contracted and
anticipated income streams emanating from the Group's and Company's investment property
portfclio.

Substanlially the areas comprising the Group's and Company’s investment property portfolio are
presently leased oul under operating leases agreements with third parties and related entities within
the Tumas Group.

The following amounts have been recognised in the income statements:

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €
Rental income 5,212,776 4,220,259 1,671,579 1,300,000
Direc! operating and administrative
expenses {1,653,310) (969,019)  (1,031,900) {864,263)
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6.

Investments in subsidiaries

Cost and carrying amount
At beginning of vear
Impact of merger of subsidia

ry (Note 13)

Company
2024 2023
€ €
118,791 118,791
{1,170) -
117,621 118,791

The subsidiaries at 31 December, whose results and financial position affected the figure of the

Group are shown below;

Portomaso Leasing
Company Limited

Halland Developments
Company Limited

Premium Real Estate
Invesiment Limited

Registered
Office

Tumas Group Corporate
Office, Level 3,

Portomaseo Business Tower
Portomaso

S{ Julians

Malta

Tumas Group Corporate
Office, Level 3,

Portomaso Business Tower
Poricmaso

St. Julians

Malta

Tumas Group Corporate
Office, Level 3,

Portomaso Business Tower
Portomaso

St Julians

Malta

Class of
shares held

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares

Percentage of

shares held
(and voting rights)
2024 2023
% Y%
100 100
100 100
- 99
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Trade and other receivables

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €
Non-current
Trade receivables - 573,000 - 573,000
Amounis owed by parent entities 952,288 052,288 952,288 952,288
Amounts owed by subsidiaries - - 26,348,742 16,164,160
Amounts owed by fellow
subsidiaries 995,092 1,025,091 995,092 1,025,091
1,947,380 2,550,379 28,296,122 18,714,639
Current
Trade receivables — {net of credit 3,502,667 2,513,680 2,211,577 1,464 673
loss allowances)
Armounts owed by parent 7,787 1,633,655 7,787 1,527 730
Amounts owed by subsidiary - - - 1,624,649
Amounts owed by fellow
subsidiaries 862,254 17,963,764 171,365 17,363,109
Amounts owed by related parties 10,403 117,455 10,463 -
Other receivables 64,919 48,388 64,919 47 774
Advance payments 3,578,269 1,563,677 2,047,863 318,703
Prepayments and accrued income 2,164,781 1,688,593 1,220,068 1,223,066
10,191,080 25429212 5,733,982 23,570,004
Total trade and other receivables 12,138,460 27,979,591 34,030,104 42,284,543

Amounts owed by parenis, subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries and related parties are unsecured, and
are repayabile on demand except for those disclosed as non-current. These amounts bear interest
at 1.8% (2023: 1.8%). Interest amounting to €459,297 (2023: €17,912) owed to subsidiaries and
fellow subsidiaries was waived,

Receivables above are stated net of expected credit losses allowances.

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €
Trade receivables 408,054 306,828 278,115 255736

Advanced payments on projects represent payments to confractors in respect of development works
on new projects principally undertaken by the Group which have not yet been undertaken, i also
includes an amount of €1,190,912 in relalion to investment in Treasury Bills paid before year end but
- effective in the beginning of financial year 2025.
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Trade and other receivables - continued

The increase in expected credit losses allowances for the year is disclosed in Note 18 and is included
in the income statement as follows:

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €
Administrative expenses 101,226 {181,695) 22,379 {45,735}
101,226 (181,695) 22,379 {45,735)

Inventories

Property held for resale principally includes the development of the Halland apartments and othar
units which are still unsold in the Portomasc Complex.

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €
Property held for resale 35,544,450 30,616,200 8,360,910 6,928,462
Food and beverage 260,395 267,850 260,395 267,850

Consumables 593,147 568,279 593,147 568,279

36,397,992 31,452,329 9,214,452 7,764,501

The Group is currently developing a major real estate project which is covered by an executable full
development building permits. The said permits are subject to two appeals instituled by third party
objectors before the Environment and Planning Review Tribunal, These appeals are still ongoing and
are both at the stage of compilation of the evidence.

The Group has carried out its annual review of the carrying amount of its inventory porlfolio and, after
considering all developments which occurred during the year, has concluded that the realisable value
is in excess of the carrying amount of inventory.

Payroll costs incurred during the year amounting to €447 776 and €178,579 have been capitalised
within the Group's and Company's inventory.

Borrowings are secured by the Group’s property held for resale (Note 14}.
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10.

11.

Other financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets at amortised cost include the following debt investments:

Group and Company

2024 2023
€ €

Year ended 31 December
Cost and carrying amount 22,211,932 11,765,877

The Group’s financial instrumentis which are measured at amortised cost, consist of Treasury bilis
issued by the German, Dutch, French, Belgian and Maltese Governments and are considered to be
current in nature.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purposes of the statement of cash flows, the year-end cash and cash equivalents comprise
the following:

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €
Cash at bank and in hand 3,857,967 7,327,931 3,127,335 6,210,706
Bank overdrafts (Note 14) (300,283) - {300,283) -
3,557,684 7,327,931 2,827,052 6,210,706

Share capital

Group and Company

2024 2023
€ €

Authorised, Issued and fully paid
1,164,687 otdinary "A" shares of €1 each 1,164,687 1,164,687
6,988,119 ordinary “B" shares of €1 each 6,988,119 6,988,119
5,499,999 redeemable 6% preference shares of €1 each 5,499,999 5,499,989
13,652,805 13,652,805

Each ordinary share carry the right te one vote at any general meeting of the Company. Redeemable
preference shares shall not carry any voling rights.
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13.

Revaluaticn reserves

Surplys arising on revaluation of tand within;
Property, plant and equipment
Invesimenl property

At 31 December

Property, plant and equipment

At 1 January

Gross

Transfer to retained earnings (before {axation)

Deferred taxation {Nole 16)

At 31 December

Investment property

At 1 January

Gross

Deferred taxation (Note 16)

At 31 December

The revaluation reserves are non-distributable.

Merger by acquisition

SPINOLA DEVELOPMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2024

Group and Company
2024 2023
€ €

84,217,649 85,043,149
1,191,185 1,191,185

85,408,834 86,234,334

111,697,747 112,967,747
{1,270,000)  (1,270,000)

110,427,747 111,697,747

{26,210,098) (26,654,598)

84,217,649 85,043,149

1,339,584 1,339,584
{148,399) (148,3099)

1,191,185 1,191,185

On 16 March 2024, the directors approved the terms of merger of Premium Real Estates Investments
Limited, where the latter entity has merged into the Company. For accounting purposes all assets
and liabilities as at 1 January 2024, were merged and amalgamted into the Company in accordance

with section 344 and 358 of the Maltese Company Act, 1995,

The assets and liabilties arising from this transaction are as follows:

Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Trade and olher payables
Total ne{ assets acquired

Elimination of investment in subsidiary {Note 6)

Net effect of reserves of merger

2024
€

1,164,270
5,966
(1,187,234)
(16,998)
(1,170)

”""""'-(13,153')_
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Borrowings

2024 2023
€ €
Year ended 31 December
Opening carrying amount 49,927 107 49,891,283
Additional bank loan 12,000,000 -
Additional bank overdraft 300,283 -
Repayment of bank loan {546,591) -
Repayment of loan from fellow subsidiary (24,986,438) -
Amortisation of issue cost 13,996 35,824
36,708,357 49,927,107
Non-current
Bank loans 10,406,876 -
Loan frem fellow subsidiary 24,954,665 24,940,668
35,361,541 24,940,669
Current
Bank loans 1,046,533 -
L.oan from fellow subsidiary - 24,986,438
Bank cverdrafts 300,283 -
1,346,816 24,986,438
Total borrowings 36,708,357 49,927 107

SPINCLA DEVELOPMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2024

Group and Company

The bank lpan and overdrafts are secured by:

(a) general and special hypothecs over the Group's assets;

{(b) general hypothecs and guarantees provided by fellow subsidiaries;
{c} pledges on lhe Group’s insurance policies,

(d) lellers of undertaking.

The Group's and Company's hanking facilities as at 31 December 2024 amounted to €21,212,5568
and €21,112 558 sespectively (2023: €2,445,589 and €2,345,589).

Loans from fellow subsidiary are disclosed at the value of the proceeds less the net book amount
of the issue costs, as follows:
Group and Company

2024 2023

€ €

Face value of loans from fellow subsidiary 25,000,000 50,000,000
Gross amount of issue cosls (143,515} {318,430)
Amortisation up to end of year 98,180 245,637
Unamortised issue cosls (45,335} (72,893)
Amortised cost and closing carrying amount 24,954,665 49927 107
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Borrowings - continued

By virtue of an offering memorandum dated 7 July 2014, the Group issued 5% bands maturing in
2024 for an amount of €25,000,000 through Tumas investments pic. The bonds are guaranteed by
the Company, which has bound itself jointly and severally liable for the payment of the bends and
interest thereon, pursuant to and subject to the terms and conditicns in the offering memaorandum.
The bond has been redeemed on 10 July 2024 through funds generated by, and avalilabie to the
Company at the time and aiso by virtue of an additional banking facility of €12,000,000.

By virtue of an offering memorandum dated 29 May 2017, the Group issued 3.75% bonds maturing
in 2027 for an amount of €25,000,000 through Tumas Investments pic. The bonds are guaranteed
by the Company, which has bound itself jointty and severally liable for the payment of the bonds and
interest thereon, pursuant to and subject to the terms and conditions in the offering memerandum.

Proceeds for these bonds have been advanced to the Company through loans from fellow subsidiary.

The interes! rate exposure of borrowings was as follows:

Group and Company

2024 2023
€ €

Total borrowings:
At fixed rates 24,954 665 49927107
At floating rates 11,753,692 -

36,708,357 49,927 107

Weighted average effective interest rates at the end of the reporting pericd date:

Group and Company

2024 2023
Bank overdrafts 3.2% -
Bank loans 3.2% -
Loans from fellow subsidiaries 3.9% 4 5%

Group and Company

2024 2023
€ €

Maturity of total borrowings at 31 December:
Within one year 1,346,816 24 986,438
Between one year and two years 1,080,857 -
Between {wo and five years 28,413,849 24,940,669
Over five years 5,866,835 -

36,708,357 49,927,107
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Trade and other payables

Nen-current

Advance deposits

Amounts owed to fellow subsidiary
Amounts owed to subsidiary

Current

Trade payables

Payments received on account

Capital and other payables

Amounts owed to fellow
subsidiaries

Amounts owed to subsidiaries

Amounts owed to related parties

indirect and other taxation

Accruals and deferred income

Total trade and other payables

SPINOLA DEVELOPMENT COMPANY LIMITED

Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2024

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €
400,000 - - -
850,000 - 250,000 -
- - 5,729,837 -
1,250,000 - 6,679,837 -
2,972,588 3,817,172 2,923,880 2,876,973
548,373 464,090 167,897 207,239
3,683,299 3,649,657 3,683,299 3,649,557
1,605,328 - 1,559,936 -
- - 152,676 -
264,835 247,832 264,835 247,832
851,263 621,917 £59,088 511,281
6,471,647 5,628,114 4,180,630 4,472,080
16,397,333 14,128,682 13,592,241 11,964,962
17,647,333 14,128,682 20,472,078 11,064,962

Amounts owed to subsidiaries, fellow subsidiaries and related parties are unsecured, interest free
and are repayable on demand, except those disclosed as non-current. These bear interest at 1.8%
(2023: Nil). Interest amounting to €96,011 {2023: €Nil) owed to subsidiaries was waived during 2024,
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Deferred taxation

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €
At beginning of year 25,764,929 26437601 24,779,335 25,603,069

Deferred tax on transfer of depreciation

through asset use (444,500) (444,500) (444,500) (444,500)
Deferred tax on temporary differences

arising on depreciation of non-current

assels (325,162) {396,005) (325,162) (396,005)
Deferred tax on temporary differences

arising on expected credit losses {35,429} 64,357 (7,832) 16,771
Deferred tax on temporary differences

arising on rental income 161,299 103,476 - -
At 31 December 25121137 25,764,929 24,001,841 24,779,335

The balance at 31 December represents temporary differences on:

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €
Revaluation of property, plant and

equipment (Note 12) 26,210,698 26,554,598 26,210,098 26,654,598

Revaluation of investment property
(Note 12) 148,399 148,399 148,399 148,399
Revaluation of property held for resale 800,000 800,000 - -
Depreciation of non-current assets (2,259,337) (1,934,175) (2,259,337) (1,934,175)
Rental income 264,775 103,476 - -
Expected credit losses {142,798) {107,369) (97,319) (89,487)

25121137 25764,929 24,001,841 24,779,335

Deferred taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method and are
measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply (o the period when the asset is realised or the
liability is seitled based on tax rates (and tax taws) that have been enacted by the end of the reporting
period. The principal tax rate used is 35% (2023: 35%), with the exception of deferred taxation on
the fair valuation of non-depreciable property which as from 2015 is computed on the basis applicable
to disposals of immovable property, that is, tax effect of 10% of the transfer value.
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17. Revenue

The Group's operations consist of the ownership of prime tourism and leisure properties, which
include the operaticn of a hotel, the development of residential, rental and commercial property for
trading and renting purposes and the provision of ancillary services to this industry. All these
opeiations are conducted locally.

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €
Hospitality and ancillary services 43,431,328 44112263 43,431,328 44,112,263
Property development - 197,690 - 197,690
Rental operations 5,739,594 4,517,163 1,671,579 1,300,000

Complex management opesations 3,732,435 3,270,188 3,680,426 3,237,169

52,903,357 52,097,304 48,783,333 48,847,122

18. Expenses by nature

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €
Employee benefit expense (Note 19) 13,000,263 11,413,977 13,000,263 11,413,977

Cepreciation on:
- Property, plant and equipment {Note 4) 4,674,254 4,655,581 4,674,254 4655581

~ Investmenl properly (Nole 5) 897,396 763,315 897,396 763,315

Properly development costs (255,254) (89,192) {255,254) (89,192)
Opgperating supplies and relaled expenses 2,910,944 2,721,520 2,910,944 2,721,520

Water, slectricity and fuel costs 1,738,566 1,809,041 1,738,566 1,809,041

Operators charges 2,624,037 2,743,822 2,624,037 2,743,822

increase/(decrease) in expected credit

losses (Note 7) 101,226 {181695) 22,379 {45,735)
Management fees 280,149 700,000 280,149 700,000

Commissions payable 11,596 2,085 11,596 2.085

Other expenses 11,992,199 11,960,612 11,576,985 11,742,855

Total cost of sales, administrative
expenses 37,975,376 036,490086 37,481,315 36417269

55



18.

19.

SPINOLA DEVELOPMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Statements - 31 December 2024

Expenses by nature - continued

Auditor's fees

Fees charged by the auditor for services rendered during the financial periods ended 31 December

2024 and 2023 relate to the following:

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €
Annual statutory audi 77,245 64,490 65,245 58,170
Other assurance services 11,088 11,088 11,088 11,088
Tax advisory services 3,590 2,970 950 200
Qther non-assurance seyvices - 2,150 - 2,150
91,923 80,698 77,283 72,308

Employee benefit expense

Group and Company

2024 2023
€ €
Wages and salaries 12,487,397 11,525,102
Social security costs 970,464 865,767
13,457,86% 12,390,869
Recharged to fellow subsidiaries (1,453,508} (976,892)
Recharged from fellow subsidiaries 995,911 -
13,000,263 11,413,977

The average number of persons employed by the Group and Company during the year were:

Group and Company

2024

Direct 298
Indirect 112
Administration 76
486

2023
291
112

68

471
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20. Finance income and costs

Group and Company

2024 2023
€ €
Interest income from;

- bank deposits 32,030 46,341
- fellow subsidiary 99,400 364,832
- parent undertakings 13,361 29,510
- investment in treasury bills 685,685 50,005
- other 31,699 27,536

862,175 518,224

Group and Company

2024 2023
€ €
Interest and related expense on:

- bank loans and overdrafts 334,748 28,904
- loan to parent 15,089 3,563
- loans from fellow subsidiaries 1,709,178 2,237,500
- amortisation of issue transaction costs 27,558 35,824
- other finance charges 479,823 534,337

2,566,396 2,840,128

21, Investment income
Company
2024 2023
€ €

Dividend received from subsidiary 2,700,000 1,900,600
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22. Tax expense

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €
Current tax expense:
on taxable profit subject to tax at 35% 4,105,067 4,390,316 3,753,745 4,129,481
on taxable profit subject to tax at 15% 613,664 425,186 129,946 6,779
on taxable income subject to tax at 10% - 18,500 - 18,500
Deferred tax (Note 16) (643,792) (672,672) {777,494) (B23,734)
Tax expense 4,074,939 4,161,330 3,106,197 3,331,026

The tax on the Group's and Company’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would
arise using the basic tax rate as follows:

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €
Profit before tax 13,553,836 13,6805074 12,627,873 12,336,689
Tax on profit at 35% 4,743,843 4,761,776 4,419,756 4,317,841
Tax effect of:
- maintenance allowance claimed in
respect of rental income (172,227)  (152,919) (91,000) (91,000}
- expenses not deductible for tax
purposes 314,619 260,596 261,179 241,825
- under / {over) provision in prior years 79,023 (82,966) 79,023 (92,334)
- application of different tax rates on
property disposal - 64,094 - 64,094
- income taxed at source {129,588) - (129,588) -
- income taxed at different rates {43,673) - (43,673)

- application of different tax treatment to
dividend received
- application of different tax rates to rental

(945,000)  (665,000)

income {(272,558) (244.751) - -
Temporary differences attributed to

property, plan! and equipment (444,500) (444 500) (444,500)  (444,500)

Tax expense 4,074,939 4 161,330 3,106,197 3,331,026

58



23.

24,

Dividends

Dividends on ordinary shares:
Distribution from Final Tax account

Gross and net dividend on ordinary
shares

Dividends per share

Dividend on preference shares:

Distribution from Final Tax account

Gross and net dividend on redeemable 6%

preference shares

Total net dividends

Cash generated from cperations

SPINOLA DEVELOFPMENT COMPANY LIMITED
Annual Report and Consolidated Financial Stalements - 31 December 2024

Reconcilialion of operaling profit {o cash generated from operations:

Operaling profit

Adjustments for:

Cepreciation on:

- Property, plant and equipment (Note 4)
- Invesiment property (Nole 5)

Net gain on disposal of investment
property and property, plant and
equipment

Amortisation of issue costs

Movement in expected credit losses
(Note 7)

Changes in working capital:
Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables

Cash generated from operations

Net debt recancifiation

Group and Company

2024 2023
€ €
2,000,000 3,000,000
€0.25 €0.37
214,500 214,500
2,214,500 3,214,500
Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €
15,258,057 15,926,978 11,632,094 12,758,593
4,674,254 4,655,581 4,674,254 4,655,581
897,396 763,315 897,396 763,315
92,475 8,488 92,475 8,488
27,558 35,824 27,558 35,824
101,226 (181,695) 22,379 (45,735)
{4,945,663) (5,803,281) (285,591) (170,668)
15,311,756 (5,727,097} 17,994,665 (5,953,618)
2,268,651 2,148,848 1,626,689 1,306,880
33,685,710 11,826,961 36,681,919 13,348,680

All the movements in the Group's and Company’s net debt related only to cash flow movements

and disclosed as part of the financing activities in the statement of cash fiows on page 18.
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Commitments

Capital commitments

At 31 December the Group had capital commitments not provided for in these financial statements

as follows:

Authorised not
Group Contracted contracted

2024
€ €
Inventory (property development) 1,320,555 18,728,129
Non-current assets 1,407,847 3,465,855
2,728,402 22,193,984

Authorised not
Contracted contracted
2023
€ €

5,880,581 24,301,802
922,220 972,862

6,802,801 25,274,664

At 31 December the Company had capital commitments not provided for in these financial statements

Authorised not

Contracted contracted
2023
€ €
26,000 236,821

922,220 972,862

as follows:

Authorised not
Company Confracted confracted

2024
€ €
Inventory (property development) - -
Non-current assets 1,407,847 3,465,855
1,407,847 3,465,855

948,310 1,209,683

Operating lease commitments - where the Group and the Company are lessors

The future minimum lease payments receivable under non-cancellable property operating leases are

as foliows:
Group
2024 2023
€ €
Not later than 1 year 3,237,738 2,148,463
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 9,826,286 5,114,974
l.ater than 5 years 6,616,172 3,724,012

Company
2024 2023
€ €
636,992 1,300,000
2,547,968 .
2,813,381 -

19,680,196 10,987 449

5,998,341 1,300,000

The Company's leases relate to an operating lease with a subsidiary. Refer 1o Note 5. During 2024,
the Company entered into an agreement with a third party to lease out the Marina Operations.
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26.

27.

Contingencies
At the end of the reporting period, the Group and parent Company’s major contingent liabilities were:

(a) Guarantees of €20,257,060 (2023: €9,347,401) issued on behalf of other fellow subsidiaries’ bank
facilities. The guarantees are supported by general and special hypothecs over the Company's
assets.

(b} Guarantees amounting o €135,779 (2023; €123,419} in favour of third parties.

(c) Guarantee amounting to €6,010 (2023: €6,010) in favour of third parties.

Related party transactions

The Company forms part of the Tumas Group of Companies. All companies forming part of the
Tumas Group are related parties since these companies are all uitimately owned by Tumas Group
Company Limited which is considered by the directors to be the ultimate controlling party. Trading
transactions between these companies include items which are narmally encountered in a Group
context. The Group is uitimately fully owned by members of the Fenech family, who are therefore
considered (o be related parties.

Related parties aiso include international Hilton hotels and related affiliates in view of the management
agreement in place. Trading transactions with these related parties are entered into on a regular basis
as a result of normal {rading transactions, and mainly relate to corporate costs, management fees and
operators’ charges.

The foliowing transactions were carried out wilh related parties;

Group Company
2024 2023 2024 2023
€ € € €

income from services
Rents receivable from subsidiaries

- - 1,300,000 1,300,000
Rents receivable from fellow subsidiary 1,616,397 1,487 841 - -

Rents receivable from other related parties 336,226 - - -
Maintenance fees receivable from

subsidiary - - 948,426 895,978
Interest receivable from related parties 112,761 394,342 112,761 394 342
Payroll recharges 1,453,509 - 1,453,509 -
Expenditure for goods and services
Net interest and similar charges payable

to refated parties 1,724,267 2,241,063 1,724,267 2,241,063
Management fees charged by

fellow subsidiaries 280,149 700,000 280,149 700,000
Operators’ charges and other fees payable

1o other related parties 2,624,037 2,743.822 2,624,037 2,743,822
Payroll recharges 995,911 976.892 995,911 976,892

Year end balances and borrowings arising from related party transactions are disclosed in Notes 7,
14 and 15 to the financial statements.

Bividends paid to the shareholders are disclosed in Note 23.
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28.

29,

Statutory information
Spincla Development Company Limited is a limiled liability Company and is incosporated in Malta.

The immediate parent Company of Spincla Development Company Limited is Spinola Invesiments
Limited, a Company registered in Malta, with i{s registered address at Tumas Group Corporate Office,
{evel 3, Portomaso Business Tower, Portomaso, St. Julians, Malta. Spinola Investments Limited is
exempl from the preparation of consclidaled accounts by virtue of seclion 174(1)(a} of the Companies
Act, 1995,

The ultimale parent Company of Spincla Development Company Limited is Tumas Group Company
Limited, a Campany registered in Malla, with its registered address at Tumas Group Corporate Office,
Level 3, Portomaso Business Tower, Portomaso, St Julians, Mailta.

Raymond Fenech, a director an all Tumas companies and part sharsholder of the Tumas Group, has
acted as the execulive chairman of the board of Tumas Group Company Limited and as Chief
Executive Officer of the Tumas Group. All decisions taken by the board of the uitimate parent were
execuled by the chairman in his role as chief executive officer of the Group.

Comparative information
Comparative figures disclosed in the main components of these financial statements have been

reclassified to conform with the current year's presentation format for the purpose of fairer
presentation.
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